1978

## State of Utah v. Jackson : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a deprivation of parental rights case which originated in the Juvenile Court. The biological parents now seek a reversal of the order of the Juvenile Court with regard to the termination of all their parental rights.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Juvenile Court entered an order placing the minor child, Carol, in foster care and denying the petition for permanent deprivation. The Juvenile Court ordered that Rose be placed for adoption, but afforded her the right to visit with her biological parents as desired. With regard to Harold and Dollie, the order permanently deprived the parents of all rights and ordered that these two children be placed for adoption.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants do not dispute the order with regard to Carol. They do seek the reversal of the order placing Rose, Harold and Dollie for adoption, and in the alternative modifying the order with regard to Harold and Dollie to permit these children to have contact with their biological parents.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Viewing the record in a light favoring the successful party below, the evidence demonstrates the following:

1. The State filed a petition seeking permanent deprivation of all parental rights with regard to four children, Carol, Rose, Harold and Dollie.

2. At a hearing on March 8, 1977, the State moved to amend its petition and made an oral motion for psychological examinations of the parents, to which counsel for the parents objected.

3. On March 17, 1977, a pre-trial was held and new counsel for the parents objected to the re-newed oral motion for psychologicals except as it related to the completion of the previous testing already commenced by Dr. Tomb. A minute entry for March 17, 1977 indicated that the Court ordered Dr. Tomb to finish his psychological examination of the parents and the Court was to send a letter requesting the same to Dr. Tomb.

4. In April of 1977, Dr. Liebroder administered psychological tests to the parents and in May of 1977, Dr. Berensen administered psychological tests to the parents. Both of these tests were, apparently, conducted

at the request of Judge Whitmer. There is no record of the same however.

5. The Court made no findings that the physical, mental or emotional condition of the parents may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependency or delinquency of the children before ordering the psychologicals.

6. There was no notice of a hearing for the purpose of obtaining an order from the Juvenile Court that the parents submit to a psychological examination, nor was their due notice and hearing set for this specific purpose.

7. Following a lengthy trial, the Juvenile Court entered an order, granting a motion to dismiss the petition for permanent deprivation with regard to Carol and continuing her placement in temporary foster care. The Court, further, entered an order terminating all parental rights with regard to Rose, but in an effort to maintain a contact with her heritage, permitted her to visit with her parents as desired.

8. The Court also entered an order terminating all parental rights with regard to Harold and Dollie and ordering that they be placed for adoption.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE PSYCHIATRIC AND PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATIONS WHICH WERE ADMINISTERED WITHOUT DUE NOTICE AND A HEARING SET FOR THIS SPECIFIC PURPOSE AND OVER THE OBJECTION OF COUNSEL FOR THE BIOLOGICAL PARENTS, ARE INVALID, AND SINCE THEY WERE THE MAIN BASIS FOR THE ORDER OF PERMANENT DEPRIVATION, THE ORDER PERMANENTLY DEPRIVING THE BIOLOGICAL PARENTS OF THEIR CHILDREN SHOULD BE VACATED.

In 78-3a-23, U.C.A. annotated as amended, the legislature set forth the following guidelines with regard to a psychological or psychiatric examination of parents:

After due notice and a hearing set for the specific purpose, the Court may order a similar examination of a parent or guardian whose ability to care for a child is an issue, if the Court finds from the evidence presented at the hearing that the parents' or guardian's physical, mental, or emotional condition may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependency, or delinquency of the child.

In the instant case there was a hearing on March 8, 1977, during which the state moved to amend its petition for permanent deprivation, and counsel for the state made an oral motion for psychological examinations of the parents. Johnathan King, counsel for the parents

objected on the basis that the parents had already been examined by a Dr. Tomb in connection with another child, in another matter, and the Court observed that it would not make a decision at that time because counsel for the parents believed he had a conflict of interest.

On March 17, 1977 a pre-trial was held and Patricia De Michele, new counsel for the parents objected to the re-newed oral motion for psychologicals except as it related to the completion of the previous testing already commenced by Dr. Tomb.

The Court made no findings that the physical, mental or emotional condition of the parents may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependency or delinquency of the children. But, apparently, as the record is silent in this area, the Court sent a letter to Dr. Liebroder and Dr. Berensen requesting that they test the parents in connection with the case in question.

In April of 1977, Dr. Liebroder administered tests to the parents and in May of 1977, Dr. Berensen tested the parents. Both of these tests were conducted at the request of Judge Whitmer.

There is no indication in the file, of any kind, that due notice of a hearing for the purpose of obtaining an examination of the parents was ever submitted to the parents, or to counsel for the parents. Further, there is no indication that a hearing was set for the specific purpose of obtaining a psychological or psychiatric examination of the parents; and finally, there is no evidence of any kind in the record that the Court ever made a finding from evidence presented at said hearing that the parents' physical, mental or emotional condition may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependency or delinquency of the children.

Johnathan King, counsel for the parents, objected to the administering of the psychological examinations, T.4,L.20-22, and new counsel for the parents objected to the taking of the examinations, except for the completion of the report already commenced by Dr. Tomb, T.9,L.18.24. There was, therefore, no consent or waiver by counsel, of the parents' right to procedural due process under the statute.

The parties, individually, did not consent or waive their rights to procedural due process under

the statute in attending the psychological examinations administered by Dr. Leibroder and Dr. Berensen. The parties were instructed to attend the examinations and did what they were requested to do. As to whether or not the parents understood the effect of the request for psychologicals, Ruby Jackson has a disability which makes her unable to clearly understand instructions, even through an interpreter. Dr. Berensen testified as follows with regard to Ruby Jackson:

Dr. Berensen: The person I relied upon and had to was the interpreter, and she's worked extensively with deaf people, as I understand it, her own parents were deaf, and I had to rely upon her as a second, you know, party to help me. She didn't indicate that Mrs. Jackson does not understand concepts, but that her lack of understanding is beyond what she has seen in the congenitally deaf, that there are other problems, is the way she put it, and she agreed to keep rephrasing the questions until she felt as though Mrs. Jackson understood them or else, she would say to me, "She does not understand that question, she's talking about something else". T.137, L5-15.

With regard to Marvin Jackson, it is also clear that he has difficulty in understanding. Dr. Berensen testified as follows:

Dr. Berensen: In my conclusion, my diagnostic impression is that Mr. Jackson would fit the category of inadequate personality with impulse disorder and a borderline I.Q. T.118, L.12-14.

If the parties were not handicapped with certain learning disabilities, they would certainly be entitled to all the protection the law affords with regard to the procedural safeguards of 78-3a-23, U.C.A. annotated as amended. Since they are handicapped with certain learning disabilities, the utmost care and concern should be taken to see to it that their rights are fully protected.

The Court, in ordering the psychologicals of the parents by Dr. Liebroder and Dr. Berensen, ignored the three (3) important procedural safeguards of 78-3a-23, U.C.A. annotated as amended as follows:

1. It directed the parents to submit to psychological or psychiatric examinations without concern for the due notice requirement of the statute.
2. It directed that the parents submit to psychological or psychiatric examinations without regard for the statutory requirement of a hearing set for the specific purpose of determining whether or not the parents' physical, mental, or emotional condition may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependency, or delinquency of the child or children.



3. It directed the parents to submit to psychological or psychiatric examinations without concern for the statutory mandate that the Court make findings from the evidence presented at a hearing that the parents' physical, mental or emotional condition may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependency, or delinquency of the child or children in question.

In reviewing the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order, which are based heavily on the testimony of Dr. Berensen and the evidence introduced by Dr. Liebroder, the Court should reverse the order of the Juvenile Court which permanently terminated the rights of the biological parents and ordered that the children be placed for adoption, on the basis that the biological parents were not afforded their right to procedural due process in accordance with 78-3a-23, U.C.A. annotated as amended, in a proceeding that resulted in an order permanently depriving them of custody of 3 of their minor children and requiring that said children be placed for adoption.

## POINT II

THE MINOR CHILD, ROSE, ALTHOUGH ADOPTABLE, HAS  
REACHED THE AGE AT WHICH IT WOULD BE IMPOSSIBLE TO

BREAK TIES WITH HER NATURAL PARENTS, AND IN KEEPING WITH THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD, THAT PART OF THE ORDER THAT SHE BE PLACED FOR ADOPTION SHOULD BE VACATED.

A. BASED ON THE FINDINGS OF FACT.

In paragraph 10 of the Findings of Fact, it is observed:

Dr. Berensen, M.D., testified that in the case of both Rose and Carol, it would be difficult, in view of their ages, to break the ties with the natural parents.

The order with regard to Carol was that she not be placed for adoption and petitioners do not dispute the order placing her in temporary foster care with the opportunity to visit with petitioners.

With regard to Rose, however, the 10 year old minor child of petitioners, any order of the Court that the child be placed for adoption could not sever the strong ties she has with her natural parents and therefore, any attempt to place the child for adoption, thereby terminating all parental rights and responsibilities, would not be in keeping with this important Finding of Fact and that part of the order that the child be placed for adoption should be vacated.

B. BASED ON THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

The conclusions of law were such that the Court concluded that adoption for Rose would be impossible as follows:

Rose, although adoptable, has reached an age at which it would be impossible to break ties with her natural parents.

Therefore, the Court reached the conclusion that the ties with the natural parents were too strong for adoption to be a possibility and that part of the order that Rose be placed for adoption is inconsistent with the Conclusions of Law reached by the Court and should therefore be reversed.

C. THE STATE'S EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT ADOPTION IS NOT A POSSIBILITY FOR ROSE.

Dr. Berensen testified as follows:

Mr. Oddone: In terms of adoptability, would you speak to that issue as it relates to Rose?

Dr. Berensen: I would rather say that Rose has no psychiatric disabilities in great number, one, two, she shows great personality strengths and ability to integrate into another home. Taken those three factors into consideration, I would say that this child is adoptable, given certain modifications.

Mr. Oddone: What would those modifications be?

Dr. Berensen: Those modifications are that Rose has a heritage and that she needs to be able to call upon that heritage whenever she feels the need for it, so that Rose should always know that she has a set of natural parents and a group of siblings and she may at times need to see that family and she should know, as she does now and seems comfortable with it, that her parents cared about her, but that they were unable to take care of her.

Mr. Oddone: And you say she knows that now?

Dr. Berensen: She knows now, according to the Statement she made to me, "Mom and dad couldn't take care of the children" was the reason for her placement and was comfortable and accepting of that.  
T.130, L24-32; T.141 L1-10

If Rose were placed for adoption, under the law, she would haven no right to see her natural parents. In 78-30-11, U.C.A. annotated as amended, a complete severing between parent and child is dictated:

The natural parents of an adopted child are, from the time of the adoption, relieved of all parental duties toward and all responsibility for the child so adopted and shall have no further rights over it.

According to the testimony of Dr. Berensen, it is very important that Rose maintain her heritage and the right to see her parents and siblings as she feels the

need to do so. Therefore, any final order must comply with the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the evidence presented; and, as an order placing the child for adoption is inconsistent therewith, that part of the final order should be stricken.

D. THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD SHOULD BE THE PARAMOUNT CONCERN OF THE COURT.

In Taylor v. Waddoups 121 U.274, 241 P.2d 157 (1952), the Court observed that the best interests of the child should be paramount in adoption matters.

In addition, in 78-30-9, U.C.A. the legislature has adopted the same policy as follows:

The Court must examine all persons appearing before it pursuant to the preceding provisions, each separately, and, if satisfied that the interests of the child will be promoted by the adoption, it must make an order that the child shall thenceforth be regarded and treated in all respects as the child of the person adopting.

An attempt to create a fiction in the mind of a ten year old girl that a new set of adoptive parents are her biological parents is unreasonable and not possible due to the fact that this ten year old girl knows and needs the contact with her natural, biological parents.

The reason for creating the fiction that someone other than the biological parents gave birth to the child is the assumption that most adoptions would be

those where the biological parent or parents place an infant, not a fully developed child, for adoption, freely and voluntarily; believing that it is best for the child. Society seeks to protect the child from the hurt it would suffer from knowledge of the fact that it had been given away by its biological parents.

Does the reason for this fiction exist in the case of a child who is loved and wanted by parents who, nevertheless, cannot provide for her adequately; but where the child is old enough to have established some ties with the parents, such as in the case of ten year old Rose?

Since the law of adoption proceeds on the basis that an adopted child is the literal offspring of the adoptive parents and all rights and responsibilities with the biological parents are terminated on the date of adoption, adoption is not in keeping with the best interests of this ten year old child.

The child should continue to have the opportunity to visit with her biological parents, as ordered by the trial Court, and therefore an order doing more than depriving the parents of custody is inconsistent with the best interests of the child.

An order placing the child for adoption cuts off all rights of the child or the biological parents to associate with each other, and that part of the final order should, therefore, be vacated.

E. PUNISHMENT OF THE PARENTS IN A PERMANENT DEPRIVATION CASE SHOULD NOT BE THE PURPOSE OF THE FINAL ORDER, BUT THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD SHOULD BE THE PRIMARY GOAL OF ANY SUCH ORDER.

In 1970 Utah Law Review 325 it is observed as follows:

If the state is genuinely interested in protecting the child, then the issue is the impact of the parent's action or nonaction upon the child. If the state's interest is in punishment of the parent, then the conduct of the parent is the issue and the impact on the child is of secondary relevance at best. It must be remembered that punishment of the parental misconduct is not the function of the adoption process; protection of the child is. A focusing on the failures of the parent without consideration of the impact on the child is totally inappropriate to the adoption process, however appropriate it might be for other legal action. [Emphasis added.]

To sever all contact between the biological parents and the child serves to punish the parents for their action or inaction, in failing to adequately meet the needs of their child. It does not, however, meet the needs of the child, and the order of adoption should be vacated.

### POINT III

IF THE ORDER IS VALID WHICH PLACED ROSE FOR ADOPTION YET AFFORDED HER THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE AND ASSOCIATE WITH HER BIOLOGICAL PARENTS, AS SHE DESIRES, IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN A VITAL LINK WITH HER HERITAGE; THEN TO MAINTAIN THAT VITAL LINK FOR DOLLIE AND HAROLD, THEY SHOULD BE AFFORDED TO BE AND ASSOCIATE WITH THOSE SAME COMMON PARENTS.

A. HAROLD AND DOLLIE HAVE A RIGHT TO A SENSE OF HERIAGE.

The Court should be concerned not with legal niceties, but with the reality of what will occur if the children are placed for adoption, yet are denied all contact with their biological parents. Under Point I, appellants seek a complete reversal of the order of the Juvenile Court and in Point II a reversal of that part of the order requiring that Rose be placed for adoption. In the alternative, if the Court determines that an order is valid which places a child, rather than an infant, for adoption, yet grants it the right to visit and associate with its parents, as is the case with the order of the Juvenile Court for Rose, then appellants seek to obtain a like order with regard to Harold and Dollie.

Dr. Berensen aptly stated the concept when she responded to a question about what the effect an order would be on Carol and Rose if the parental

rights were not terminated as follows:



Dr. Berensen: I find that difficult to answer because I feel that the important thing is what happens in reality rather than what is written down on paper legally. P.134, L. 13-15

Harold Jackson will be 6 years of age in November and Dollie Ann Jackson will be 4 years of age on July 31, 1978.

Certainly these 2 children know that while in foster care they are not with their biological parents. They will also know, when, and if, they are placed for adoption, that the adoptive parents are not their biological parents.

As they get older they will naturally want to know more about their biological parents. If they desire contact with their biological parents, now or in the future, they have no right to make that contact under the present order.

A child who can see for itself through face to face contact with loving biological parents that, as stated by Rose, they love her but aren't able to take care of her, can some how sort out and make sense of the confusing set of facts which gave rise to its having been taken from its biological parents and placed for adoption in the home of strangers.

In an article by Nancy Kupersmith, "The Fight to Open Up Adoption Records," June Reader's Digest, 27, (1978), we are able to take a look into the adoptee's feelings with regard to finding natural parents:

### PERSONAL

Adult who was an adopted child desires contact with other adoptees to exchange views on adoptive situation and for mutual assistance in search for natural parents.

--Classified ad in New York Times, March 21, 1971

At the time she placed this ad, Florence Fisher had just successfully completed a 20-year search for her natural mother. Because adoption records are closed to adoptees in all states except Alabama and Kansas, those two decades had been filled with frustration and heartache. Her ad was an attempt to reach other adoptees seeking to fill the void that separates them from their past and an effort to help them avoid the soul-wrenching agony she had suffered.

Out of this vast mutual yearning, Fisher created an organization that is helping thousands of adoptees in the search for their roots. Today, her Adoptees' Liberty Movement Association (ALMA) is the largest organization of its kind, with 10,000 members scattered throughout the 50 states. ALMA's slogan: "The truth of his origin is the birthright of every man."

By providing answers, encouragement and hope, ALMA is helping adoptees gain what everyone else takes for granted: the sense of heritage that answers the most basic and haunting of human questions, "Who am I?"

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