1978

State of Utah v. Jackson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE FULLY SUPPORTS THE DECISION OF THE JUVENILE COURT TO ORDER THE TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS WITH REGARD TO ROSE, HAROLD, AND DOLLIE JACKSON.

A statutory test for termination of parental rights is a finding "that the parent or parents are unfit

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

or incompetent by reason of conduct or condition seriously detrimental to the child..." (Section 78-3a-48(1)(a), U.C.A. 1953, as amended.) Proof must be by a "preponderance of evidence." (State v. Lance, 23 Utah 2d 407, 464 P.2d 395 (1970)).

In the present case the Juvenile Court found:

(1) That the natural parents are socially and emotionally retarded and unable or unwilling to stimulate their children psychologically, emotionally, or socially, and as a result the children, to their serious detriment, are failing to develop properly and are exhibiting serious mental disorders.

(2) That Mr. Jackson has a serious personality disturbance that renders him unable to cope with the problems of everyday living. Further, that tests and reports of past behavior indicated that he is subject to virtually uncontrollable aggressive impulses threatening the children's physical welfare.

(3) That Mrs. Jackson, a deaf-mute, functions on a child-like level and is minimally able to make a marginal life adjustment. She is completely lacking in parenting skills and is unable to relate to her children except as a playmate.

(4) That Harold and Dollie progressed developmentally only when they were removed from the home of their

natural parents and given treatment at the Children's Center.

(5) That Rose and Carol, though entitled to some limited contact with their natural parents, could not receive proper training at home.

Testimony indicated that the Division of Family Services had made efforts to teach Mr. and Mrs. Jackson basic parenting skills, but because of their own personality disorders they were unable to implement such teachings; expert witnesses testified it was doubtful that there would ever be improvement in their parenting roles. (R. 31-32, 116-118).

The record is replete with evidence of parental unfitness and the nexus between the parents' unfitness and the serious personality disorders of their child. For example, Cyril Weisner testified concerning a home visit where he observed Carol performing "very inappropriate attention-getting behavior to attract...boys' attention." Mr. Weisner stated:

I talked very specifically with Marvin-- this was the kind of limit setting I was talking to him about.... [H]e needed to deal with this, and I got down to the point of offering...suggestions, talk to her, get her attention, do something, and Marvin, as he would do time and time again across these fifteen months would not and agreed that I have a good idea and probably something like that ought to be done, but it seemed like he was paralyzed. He just

could not act and did not act through the whole visit to interfere, restrain, set a limit on, in any way modify the behavior of Carol. [As to Ruby] though showing some very giggly laughy affect herself again, [she] did not intervene to in any way modify what was going on and I got the definite impression she was at that moment relating to the situation as a fifteen-year-old.

And of course, we can generalize from that tremendous concerns here it tells me and confirms fears I've had for a long time that the--number one, Marvin, I think --well, both parents want, I think, certainly Ruby, to have their children and to do what's correct by them, but they're not able to. Marvin was paralyzed in that situation. He was unable to react even with my very direct kinds of promptings. Ruby was so in touch with the situation, and I suppose experiencing what Carol was doing vicariously to the extent that her affect was right down on Carol's level, and I got the idea that we had two fifteen-year-olds at the moment, laughing and giggling and doing those things. (R. p. 70-71).

Although it is true that termination of parental rights is an extreme example of state intervention in family life, the facts of the present case show that the statutory requirements for such action have been met and that the welfare of the Jackson children involved herein requires that they be removed permanently from a home that cannot contribute to their development in any way.

This Court has developed certain tests or guidelines to determine the legal sufficiency of a termination order. In the case of In re the Interest of Winger, 558 P.2d 1311 (1976), the court adopted with approval the test enunciated

in an Oregon case under an identical termination statute, to the effect that a termination order must be supported by a preponderance of the evidence to the effect that (1) the parent is presently unable to supply physical and emotional care for the child and that (2) this condition will probably continue for time enough to render the integration of the child into a suitable family improbable. (Ibid.) In the case of State in the Interest of Walter B., 577 P.2d 119 (1978), this court held that to sustain a termination the characteristics ascribed to the mother must represent such a substantial departure from the norm as to constitute a condition seriously detrimental to the child. In the case of State in the Interest of E.B., 578 P.2d 831 (1978), the court stated that as a condition to termination a parent must be advised of appropriate remedial action, and that it must be clearly manifested that the home cannot or will not correct the deficiencies which exist there.

The ultimate and most important test in applying the statutory standard must be the interest and welfare of the child, which concern must outweigh any right or privilege of the natural parent. In the case of State v. Dade, 14 Utah 2d 47, 376 P.2d 948 (1962), this court stated:

"Quite beyond and more important than the rights and privileges of the parents is the welfare of these children and their prospects for becoming well-adjusted, self-sustaining individuals. This is the consideration of paramount importance." (376 P.2d at pg. 949).

In the termination case of In re Interest of Jennings, 432 P.2d at pg. 879 (1967), this court stated:

"While ordinarily the parents have a right to the custody of their children, the State also has an interest in the welfare of children, which is paramount thereto."

In the termination case of State in the Interest of A, 514 P.2d at pg. 799 (1973), this court stated:

"While one feels deeply for a parent who is deprived of a child that feeling must not overcome the duty placed upon the courts to act in the best interest of the child."

In the termination case of In re Interest of Winger, (Supra at pg. 1313, 1976), this court stated:

"There is a presumption of great strength, that it is in the best interests of the child to be reared by its natural parents. This presumption is only overcome when the trier of facts is convinced by a preponderance of the evidence the welfare of the child requires termination."

And in the termination case of In re the Interest of S.J., H.J. and S.J., 576 P.2d 1280 (1978), this court stated:

"It was also fair and reasonable to further conclude that the rights of the parents were secondary in importance since they were in direct conflict with and contrary to the best interest of the children."

Applying these tests and guidelines in the instant case results in the following analogy:

The parents are unfit or incompetent by reason of conduct or condition seriously detrimental to the children because

1. They are presently unable to supply physical and emotional care for the children.

2. This circumstance will probably continue beyond the time in which these children could otherwise be integrated into a suitable substitute home.

3. The conduct and condition of the parents is a substantial departure from normal parental relationships.

4. The parents have been advised of their inadequacies and advised of appropriate remedial action, but no change in the circumstances has taken place.

5. The preponderance of the evidence dictates that it is in the best interests of the children to terminate the parental relationship.

POINT II

TESTIMONY CONCERNING PSYCHIATRIC AND PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATIONS WA PROPERLY CONSIDERED BY THE COURT.

Appellants argue that they had no notice concerning a hearing prior to the ordering of psychiatric or psychological examinations. It is true that Section 78-3a-23, U.C.A. (1953, as amended), provides that there shall be "due notice and a hearing set for the specific purpose" when the Court finds that the parents' "physical, mental, or emotional condition may be a factor in causing the neglect, dependence or delinquency of the child." The facts of this case make it clear that the parents did have notice of the request for psychological testing and that they were not denied a hearing relating thereto.

The State requested psychological examinations at a hearing on March 8, 1977. The petition bringing the termination matter before the Court specifically alleged that the parents' emotional condition was a factor underlying the request for permanent deprivation of parental rights. An objection was made by Jonathan King, counsel for one of the Jackson children, based on a belief that the parents had already been tested in connection with a psychological examination of one of their sons. (R-4). A final decision regarding the testing was postponed until the pre-trial hearing on March 17, 1977, when appellants

were represented by Patricia DeMichele. After discussing the desirability of having any tests already begun completed for continuity's sake, counsel stated:

"Your Honor, the only thing that I would request at this point is, if it is not going to be Doctor Tomb and it's determined that he can't or won't--doesn't feel comfortable following through, that I be able to have some input as to who is ultimately determined to be the ...
(R.- 11.)

That counsel did have input into the testing process is shown by State Exhibit #1, psychological evaluation. The following appears at page 183 of the record.

"...Patty DeMichele of Legal Services represents the parents. Because permanent rather than temporary deprivations of parental rights is in question, Ms. DeMichele expressed the condition that both parents be seen by two examiners. Repeating essentially the same test battery with no reasonable time interval was considered as invalidating the evaluation process. Instead, Ms. DeMichele agreed to another procedure; William H. Brown, a Ph.D. Clinical Psychologist was the other examiner. He conducted the testing with Mrs. Jackson and the bulk of the post-testing interview. He then made his test data available to this examiner [Malcolm L. Liebroder, Ph.D.] who had also been present during Dr. Brown's interview of Mrs. Jackson. The procedure was essentially reversed for Mr. Jackson. Each examiner independently prepared reports of their evaluation for each of these parents." (Emphasis added).

Not only were appellants fully represented by counsel in the selection of an appropriate and fair testing process, but there was no objection to the adequacy of notice

or to the nature of the hearing at which the order regarding psychological exams was made. Further, there was no objection to the order itself or, as discussed in Point III of the Brief of the Guardian Ad Litem, to the testimony of the two court-appointed examiners, Dr. Liebroder and Dr. Berensen. Inasmuch as Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires a timely objection on the record to evidence claimed to be erroneously admitted, appellants may not now seek a reversal of the judgment based on the testimony of Dr. Liebroder and Dr. Berensen.

Respondent State of Utah would argue that the hearing requirements were met where the order for psychological testing, vital to the determination of the issue before the Court, was made in a formal hearing setting where the parents were represented by competent counsel. Whether or not the hearing could be described as having been "set for the specific purpose" would not appear to control the validity of the hearing. It is clear from the record that the due process rights of appellants were fully protected. The parents had notice of the hearings where psychological examinations were discussed. They were represented by counsel at the March 17th hearing where the State made a specific motion to have such tests performed (R. 11.) No objection was made to that motion by counsel for appellants.

Should the court find that there was not compliance with the specific language of Section 78-3a-23, U.C.A. (1953, as amended), the order of the Juvenile Court based on evidence stemming from the psychological examination should nevertheless be upheld. Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure supports this position. It states:

Harmless Error. No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or admitted by the Court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the Court inconsistent with substantial justice. The Court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not effect the substantial rights of the parties.

In the present case there is amply uncontradicted evidence as to the unfitness of appellants to fulfill the parenting role. Sources of such evidence include observation of interaction in the home and observation and testing of the emotionally disturbed children, in addition to psychological tests taken voluntarily by parents who, though unable to function as parents, have been shown to possess sufficient intelligence to understand the nature of the proceedings in the present case.

In Thatcher v. Merriam, 121 U. 191, 240 P.2d 266 (1952), this court held that an error, even if conceded,

was harmless where ample evidence, other than that of a witness claimed to be disqualified, was sufficient to support the court's decision. In the instant case, although the psychological tests clearly describe the nature of appellants' disabilities, testimony of all the witnesses convincingly pointed to their serious parenting failures.

Appellants have not shown that the action of the Juvenile Court was inconsistent with substantial justice in this matter, nor have they suggested that given a "hearing set for the specific purpose" of considering evidence concerning the need for psychological testing of appellants, there would have been a different result from that reached by the Juvenile Court.

This Court should likewise reject appellants' argument that the order permanently depriving them of their children should be vacated because of alleged defects in the procedure for obtaining psychological examinations.

POINT III

THE ORDER OF THE JUVENILE COURT TERMINATING PARENTAL RIGHTS AS TO ROSE, BUT PERMITTING CONTINUING CONTACT WITH HER NATURAL PARENTS AS SHE DESIRES, WAS A VALID EXERCISE OF THE COURT'S EQUITABLE POWERS AND SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED.

As this court has stated, "the [juvenile] court is given broad and comprehensive latitude and discretion

determining the custody of the child...." (Deveraux v. Brown, 2 Utah 2d 334, 336, 273 P.2d 185, 196 (1954)). The legislature has recognized this principle in enacting Section 78-3a-39, U.C.A. (1953, as amended), which sets out in 19 subsections a variety of dispositions which may be made by juvenile court order. Subsection 17 states: "The court may make any other reasonable orders which are for the best interest of the child...."

The following statement of this court in State v. Dade, 376 P.2d at page 951 (1962) supports the disposition made by the juvenile court in the present case:

It is appropriate to observe that this proceeding, which has such a vital and permanent effect on the lives of those concerned, is not adversary in the usual sense, but is an inquiry into the welfare of the children; and is therefore equitable in the highest degree. Due to this fact and to the somewhat informal manner in which such proceedings are conducted, the Juvenile Court has even more than the usual advantages in judging the credibility of the witnesses, the personalities of the persons involved, and the correct solution to the problems confronted. For these reasons, and also because that court is staffed with judges and personnel who have special training, experience and interest in this field, and who are devoting their exclusive attention to such matters, it is proper to allow that court a wide latitude of discretion as to the judgment arrived at. Accordingly it is the well established rule that we will not disturb the findings and determinations made

unless they are clearly against the weight of the evidence, or it is plainly manifest that the court has abused its discretion.

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